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Subpart Q—Penalties 

§ 122.161 In general. 

Except as provided in subpart S of 

this part, any person who violates any 

Customs requirements stated in this 

part, or any regulation that applies to 

aircraft under § 122.2, is, in addition to 

any other applicable penalty, subject 

to civil penalty of $5,000 as provided by 

19 U.S.C. 1644 and 1644a, except for 

overages, and failure to manifest nar-

cotics or marihuana, in which cases the 

penalties set forth in section 584, Tariff 

Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. 1584) 

apply, or for failure to report arrival or 

to present the documents required by 

§ 122.27(c) of this part in which cases 

the penalties set forth in section 436, 

Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 

U.S.C. 1436) apply, and any aircraft 

used in connection with any such viola-

tion shall be subject to seizure and for-

feiture, as provided for in the Customs 

laws. A penalty or forfeiture may be 

mitigated under part 171 of this chap-

ter. 

[T.D. 91–61, 56 FR 32086, July 15, 1991, as 

amended by T.D. 98–74, 63 FR 51289, Sept. 25, 

1998] 

§ 122.162 Failure to notify and explain 
differences in air cargo manifest. 

(a) Application. Penalties shall be as-

sessed if differences in an air cargo 

manifest (overages or shortages) are 

discovered and: 

(1) The required notice and expla-

nation are not made in time; 

(2) The port director is not satisfied 

that the differences were caused by 

clerical error or other mistake; 

(3) There has been a loss of revenue 

to the U.S.; or 

(4) The port director is not satisfied 

that there was a valid reason for delay 

in reporting any differences. 

(b) Definition. Under this section, 

‘‘clerical error or other mistake’’ 

means a non-negligent, inadvertant, or 

typographical mistake in the prepara-

tion, assembly, or submission (elec-

tronically or otherwise) of the mani-

fest. 

(c) Repeated differences. If repeated 

differences are found in manifests filed 

by the same person, it may be deter-

mined that the differences were a re-

sult of negligence and not clerical 

error or other mistake. 

(d) Knowledge. A penalty may be as-

sessed for differences in a manifest 

that are unknown to the aircraft com-

mander or owner. 

[T.D. 88–12, 53 FR 9292, Mar. 22, 1988, as 

amended by T.D. 99–64, 64 FR 43266, Aug. 10, 

1999] 

§ 122.163 Transit air cargo traveling to 
U.S. ports. 

(a) Application. If transit air cargo is 

traveling from the port of arrival to 

another U.S. port under § 122.119, a li-

ability shall be assessed, as set out in 

§ 18.8 of this chapter if there has been: 

(1) Shortage in delivery; 

(2) Irregular delivery; or 

(3) Non-delivery. 

(b) Liabilities assessed. The liabilities 

assessed under this section are imposed 

as liquidated damages under a carrier’s 

bond. 

(c) Value of merchandise. The port di-

rector shall determine the value of 

merchandise for assessment purposes 

based on the following factors: 

(1) Any data or documents available 

to the airline which presented a receipt 

for the transit air cargo, and available 

to the importing airline relating to the 

description and value of the cargo; and 

(2) Other information available to the 

port director relating to the same or 

similar merchandise. If the data or 

documents required by this section are 

not submitted within 90 days of the 

date requested, the port director shall 

determine value on the basis of other 

available information. The transit air 

cargo manifest does not reflect value. 

§ 122.164 Transportation to another 
port for exportation. 

If transit air cargo is traveling from 

the port of arrival to another U.S. port 

for later exportation, any liquidated 

damages for shortages or irregular de-

livery shall be assessed as provided in 

§ 122.163. 

§ 122.165 Air cabotage. 
(a) The air cabotage law (49 U.S.C. 

41703) prohibits the transportation of 

persons, property, or mail for com-

pensation or hire between points of the 

U.S. in a foreign civil aircraft. The 

term ‘‘foreign civil aircraft’’ includes 
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all aircraft that are not of U.S. reg-

istration except those foreign-reg-

istered aircraft leased or chartered to a 

U.S. air carrier and operated under the 

authority of regulations issued by the 

Department of Transportation, as pro-

vided for in 14 CFR 121.153, and those 

aircraft used exclusively in the service 

of any government. 

(b) Customs officers detecting pos-

sible violations shall report the matter 

to Headquarters, Attention: Entry Pro-

cedures and Carriers Branch. Liability 

should not be assessed under 49 U.S.C. 

Chapter 463 pending instructions from 

Headquarters since certain limited do-

mestic transportation by foreign civil 

aircraft is permitted under regulations 

issued by the Department of Transpor-

tation. 

[T.D. 88–12, 53 FR 9292, Mar. 22, 1988, as 

amended by T.D. 98–74, 63 FR 51289, Sept. 25, 

1998; T.D. 99–27, 64 FR 13675, Mar. 22, 1999] 

§ 122.166 Arrival, departure, discharge, 
and documentation. 

(a) Liability for civil penalties. Except 

as otherwise provided, any aircraft 

pilot violation of the requirements of 

section 433, Tariff Act of 1930, as 

amended, (19 U.S.C. 1433), with respect 

to the following actions shall be liable 

for civil penalties as provided by sec-

tion 436, Tariff Act of 1930, as amended 

(19 U.S.C. 1436), and described in para-

graph (c) of this section: 

(1) Advance notification of arrival; 

(2) Report of arrival; 

(3) Landing of aircraft; 

(4) Presentation of documentation; 

(5) Departure from the port, place, or 

airport of arrival without authoriza-

tion; or 

(6) Discharge of passenger, or mer-

chandise (to include baggage) without 

authorization. 

(b) Liability for criminal penalties. 
Upon conviction, any aircraft pilot vio-

lating any of the Customs require-

ments described in paragraph (a) of 

this section shall, in addition to civil 

penalties be subject to criminal pen-

alties as set forth in section 436, Tariff 

Act of 1930, as amended, (19 U.S.C. 

1436), and described in paragraph (c) of 

this section. If the aircraft has or is 

discovered to have had on board any 

merchandise (other than the equiva-

lent, for a vessel, of sea stores) the im-

portation of which into the U.S. is pro-

hibited, that person shall be subject to 

an additional fine as set forth in 19 

U.S.C. 1436 and described in paragraph 

(c) of this section. 

(c) Civil and criminal penalties de-
scribed—(1) Civil penalty. The pilot of 

any aircraft who fails to comply with 

the requirements of this section is lia-

ble for a civil penalty of $5,000 for the 

first violation, and $10,000 for each sub-

sequent violation. Any aircraft used in 

connection with any such violation is 

subject to seizure and forfeiture. 

(2) Criminal penalty. In addition to 

the civil penalty prescribed for viola-

tion of this section, the pilot of any 

aircraft who intentionally fails to com-

ply with the requirements of this sec-

tion is liable, upon conviction, for a 

fine of not more than $2,000 or impris-

onment for 1 year, or both. If the air-

craft is found to have, or to have had, 

on board any merchandise the importa-

tion of which is prohibited, such indi-

vidual is liable for an additional fine of 

not more than $10,000 or imprisonment 

for not more than 5 years, or both. 

(3) Additional civil penalty. If any mer-

chandise, other than the equivalent of 

vessel sea stores, is imported or 

brought into the U.S. aboard an air-

craft which has failed to comply with 

the requirements prescribed by this 

section, the pilot of the aircraft shall 

be liable for a civil penalty equal to 

the value of the merchandise, and the 

merchandise may be seized and for-

feited, unless properly entered by the 

importer or consignee. 

§ 122.167 Aviation smuggling. 
(a) Civil penalties. Any aircraft pilot 

who transports, or any person on board 

any aircraft who possesses prohibited 

or restricted merchandise knowing, or 

intending, that the merchandise will be 

introduced into the U.S. contrary to 

law shall be subject to a civil penalty 

of twice the value of the merchandise 

involved, but not less than $10,000, as 

prescribed in section 590, Tariff Act of 

1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. 1590). Any 

aircraft used in connection with, or in 

aiding or facilitating, any violation of 

19 U.S.C. 1590, whether or not any per-

son is charged in connection with such 

violation, may be seized and forfeited 

in accordance with Customs laws. 
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